GUIDANCE TO SUPPORT CHANGES TO THE MANAGEMENT OF POLICE OFFICERS ON LIMITED DUTIES

Interim version 1.3 - 27 March 2015 For review in September 2016

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
Document aims and context	2
Background and aims of change	2
Disability and reasonable adjustments	3
Key principles	4
2. Limited Duties Definitions	6
3. Recuperative Duties	8
4. Adjusted Duties	9
Allocation of Adjusted Duties Officers to Roles	9
Management of officers on adjusted duties	11
Actions in advance of the 12 month review	12
The 12 Month Review	12
Pay implications	13
Fairness and justification of X-factor retention	14
Appeals	14
Arrangements from 1 May 2015 in relation to officers currently categorised as l "restricted duties"	_
5. Re-Employment	18
Police Staff Roles	18
Re-joiners	18
Annex A: Further guidance on the exercise of discretion in relation to pay deductions associated with adjusted duties	19

1. Introduction

Document aims and context

- The aim of this guidance is to describe changes that are being introduced to the
 ways in which forces categorise and manage officers who are not fully deployable
 for a range of reasons, including changing the definitions. The relevant Regulations
 and Determinations are Regulations 22 and 28A, and Determination Annex EE of
 the Determinations under Regulation 22.
- 2. The origins of these changes are in the Winsor Review: however, the Police Advisory Board of England and Wales has developed the current guidance. This guidance represents significant change from the original proposals.
- 3. This guidance is also designed to help forces deploy the individual capabilities of each officer to the fullest possible extent, commensurate with their role or rank and to support the overall operational resilience of each police force.
- 4. It is imperative that forces have regard to their statutory duties under equalities legislation.

Background and aims of change

- 5. Officers who are not fully deployable for medical reasons were in the past categorised as being on 'restricted duties'. This definition encompassed a wide variety of officers, and it was often the case that no real distinction was drawn between those awaiting the outcome of misconduct investigations, officers who were not fully deployable on a short term basis or who were recuperating and those who needed to have long term restrictions on their deployment.
- 6. There are three new categories of limited duties. These are:
 - recuperative duties;
 - · adjusted duties; and
 - · management restricted duties.

Detailed definitions are set out at paragraph 29.

- 7. New definitions and a new process have been introduced with a view to:
 - modernising workforce management practices;
 - making the process fairer for officers and staff;
 - enabling forces to better determine what resources they have available at any one time to meet operational demand; and
 - enabling forces to improve resilience by deploying officers in a more efficient way.

- 8. Operational resilience is the ability of a force to respond effectively and flexibly to the demands placed on it on a daily basis, whether that demand is local or national. In order to meet those demands in a way that makes the best use of resources, chief officers must be confident that they have officers that have the appropriate level of capabilities that are needed and that each officer is being deployed to the full extent of their capabilities.
- 9. In order to do this, it is essential that good quality information is maintained in relation to:
 - a. the level of demand/operational requirement, including contingency for periods of exceptional demand and to meet statutory requirements under the Strategic Policing Requirement;
 - b. the resources needed to meet that demand, including the number of fully deployable officers; and
 - c. which officers are deployable, for what range of duties, at what times.
- 10. Forces need to understand the capabilities that are required for each police officer post and also, for those officers who are not fully deployable, to categorise the capabilities of each individual. Forces will then be able to match individual capability to the requirements of the post (as well as being capable an officer will also need to demonstrate that they are suitable in terms of skills and competence). This will ensure that any financial decision is justifiable.
- 11. Guidance about the transition to new arrangements for those officers currently classified by forces as being on restricted duties is at the end of Section 4 of this guidance on page 16.

Disability and reasonable adjustments

- 12. Police officers have been covered by the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 (now the Equality Act 2010) since October 2004. They are also covered by European legislation. Disability¹ is one of the protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010, which places a duty on employers to consider and make adjustments where reasonable. In some cases this may include retaining individuals where possible, with equal opportunity for career development. The law does not require employers to continue to employ people for whom adjustments cannot be made or where such adjustments that can be made are sufficiently effective. However, larger employers such as police forces would need to demonstrate that they have considered all reasonable adjustments in the context of the operational resilience.
- 13. As a matter of good management practice, forces should treat all those who request workplace adjustments in a constructive way. This may mean treating people as if they were disabled even if it is not clear whether or not they have a disability. The

The full statutory definition of 'disability' can be found at: www.equalityhumanrights.com.

- question of whether an individual has protected status under the Equality Act on grounds of disability is ultimately a matter for the courts to determine.
- 14. Officers with disabilities on recuperative and adjusted duties are protected under the same Act although not every officer with a disability will be on adjusted duties (for example, those with dyslexia or diabetes may be able to demonstrate the full range of capabilities required for a particular role).
- 15. Obligations under other legislation, such as the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 may render it impossible to make a particular adjustment (for example, the authorisation of a firearms officer may be withdrawn on the grounds of his failing eyesight).
- 16. What constitutes a reasonable adjustment depends on the circumstances of each individual case, but case law indicates that it could include:
 - a. posting a disabled officer to a post in the force matching their capabilities;
 - b. creating a new post specifically for the disabled officer (but not if the post is unnecessary for the force);
 - c. requiring another officer to swap jobs with the disabled officer;
- 17. Accepting lower levels of output could also be considered a reasonable adjustment, depending on the circumstances of the force.

Key principles

18. Forces should approach deployment in a creative way to enable the officer to be deployed in a way that is commensurate to their capabilities by removing barriers and disadvantages wherever it is reasonable to do so. For instance, it may be the case that a fully deployable officer occupies a role which does not make use of their individual capabilities. If there is a disabled officer with capabilities matching the requirements of that role, it may be appropriate to post them here and post the fully deployable officer to a frontline role instead.

NOTE: We intend that later versions of this guidance should include case studies. These will illustrate some real life examples of the sorts of changes that can be made in order to retain officers' valuable skills and experience and deploy them to the maximum extent possible, whether in deployment to an appropriate role or supporting deployment required at short notice.

- 19. Most officers will return to work and be able to carry out a full range of duties after a period of recuperation on full pay; often through the application of graduated return to work support or workplace adjustments to overcome barriers to carrying out such a role.
- 20. Where an officer is unable to make satisfactory progress against an agreed recuperative action/support plan it may be appropriate to invoke action under the Police (Performance) Regulations. However, it should be noted that Unsatisfactory

- Performance or Attendance processes (UPP) should be treated as wholly separate from other processes described in this guidance.
- 21. If an officer is not able to carry out even a limited range of duties to a degree that can be supported by the force², then ill-health retirement should be considered.
- 22. Where the officer is not considered suitable for ill-health retirement and their attendance is satisfactory but (even with appropriate workplace adjustments) they are able to carry out only a limited range of duties, the decision may be made to retain the officer on adjusted duties.
- 23. If, after a period of time on adjusted duties, during which enabling adjustments must have been fully explored, an officer is unable to return to full duties and the range of duties they are able to undertake is such that it has an impact on the operational resilience of the force, they may be retained at a reduced rate of pay that reflects this. Pay deductions should be viewed as a means of encouraging managers to focus on returning officers to full duties wherever possible, and limiting the use of adjusted duties whilst still retaining valued officers in police roles in a way that is fair to police staff and to fully deployable officers.
- 24. The application of chief officer discretion in relation to pay adjustment decisions is in no way intended as a substitute for consideration of whether a disabled officer would suffer a substantial disadvantage in comparison to a non-disabled officer as a result of a provision, criteria or practice put in place by the force.
- 25. Where officers on adjusted duties (or officers with a disability) are in roles they can discharge which the force subsequently dispenses with, the process for posting them to a new job should be followed.

5

 $^{^{2}}$ i.e. has a detrimental impact on the performance of the team, unit or force; or contributes to an inability to meet organisational/customer demand.

2. Limited Duties Definitions

- 26. The following three categories of Limited Duties will be defined in Police Regulations and determinations as follows:
 - i. "Recuperative Duties" is defined as duties falling short of full deployment, undertaken by a police officer following an injury, accident, illness or medical incident, during which the officer adapts to and prepares for a return to full duties and the full hours for which they are paid, and is assessed to determine whether he or she is capable of making such a return. Recuperative duties should be a structured, time-limited, supportive and rehabilitative process.
 - ii. "Adjusted Duties" is defined as duties falling short of full deployment (as defined at paragraph 42), in respect of which workplace adjustments have been made to overcome barriers to working.

For an officer to be placed on adjusted duties, he/she must:

- a) Be attending work on a regular basis;
- b) Be working the full number of hours for which he/she is paid (in either a full time or part time role).

Whether Adjusted Duties is agreed in any individual case will depend on whether the individual is able, after any necessary reasonable workplace adjustments have been made, to discharge a substantive³ police role for the full duration of the hours for which he/she is paid; and whether such deployment can be accommodated without unreasonable detriment to overall force effectiveness or resilience, as judged by the chief officer. All reasonable efforts must be made to accommodate any disability the officer may have.

Once agreed, and subject to continued satisfactory performance in the role, adjusted duties arrangements could be long term, depending on the needs of the force and the officer, but will be subject to ongoing review, with a management review being held on at least an annual basis or if there is a significant change in individual or organisational circumstances. The review will look at adjustments and their effectiveness at enabling the officer to continue in their police career.

For the avoidance of doubt, it is likely that some officers with disabilities (as defined under the Equality Act 2010) will be fully deployable (as defined at paragraph 45) and will therefore not be suitable for allocation to adjusted duties.

iii. "Management Restriction of Duties" is defined as duties to which an officer is allocated in circumstances in which:

³ i.e. not a temporary placement or attachment but including posts created as a reasonable adjustment; as defined in Annex EE of the determinations.

- a) Verifiable confidential or source sensitive information or intelligence has come to the notice of the force that questions the suitability of an officer to continue in his or her current post; and/or
- b) Serious concerns are raised which require management actions, both for the protection of individuals and the organisation;

In either case also that:

- c) Criminal or misconduct proceedings are not warranted; and
- d) The Chief Constable has lost confidence in the officer continuing in their current role.
- 27. Recuperative and Adjusted Duties definitions therefore cover officers who are ill, injured, or have otherwise had appropriate restrictions to deployment applied for medical reasons. This guidance covers these officers.
- 28. Forces are reminded that any temporary limitations to officers' capabilities arising from pregnancy or breastfeeding, insofar as there may be any, are not a matter for a prescriptive regulatory process, but for sensible management of human resource. For that reason, officers who are pregnant or breastfeeding are excluded from the scope of this guidance and the relevant legislation insofar as any limitations to their deployability are related to their pregnancy or breastfeeding.
- 29. In this guidance we define officers on management restricted duties, in order to specifically exclude them from the scope of this guidance.

3. Recuperative Duties

30. "Recuperative Duties" is defined as:

"duties falling short of full deployment, undertaken by a police officer following an injury, accident, illness or medical incident, during which the officer adapts to and prepares for a return to full duties and the full hours for which they are paid, and is assessed to determine whether he or she is capable of making such a return. Recuperative duties should be a structured, time-limited, supportive, and rehabilitative process."

- 31. In contrast to adjusted duties, when an officer is on recuperative duties they may be unable to fulfil a substantive role and may instead be on a temporary posting or attachment.
- 32. This guidance does not aim to set out in full the process for recuperation, but to give some context for the management of adjusted duties officers. Forces should have their own policies and procedures for the effective management of officers on recuperative duties.
- 33. A period of recuperative duties should normally last up to six months, although it is recognised that, in exceptional cases, it may be appropriate to extend the recuperation period up to a further six months (12 months in total).
- 34. This should provide sufficient time to consider the available options, including consideration and implementation of workplace adjustments, so that the officer's position is resolved.
- 35. In every case, the officer should be informed from the start of the process of the range of possible outcomes of any action that is taken.
- 36. Resolution at the end of recuperative duties can include:
 - a. Return to full duties.
 - b. Where an officer is not medically capable of resuming their full hours, the officer may wish to request (as an adjustment) part time/flexible working so that she/he is paid only for the hours worked.
 - c. Ill-health retirement may be appropriate if the officer requests or the force makes a referral to the Selected Medical Practitioner (SMP) for consideration of permanent disability <u>and</u> the Police Pensions Authority decides that eligibility criteria are met.
 - d. Where officers fail to make adequate progress against an agreed recuperative support plan, it may be appropriate to invoke action under the Police (Performance) Regulations (UPP) that are currently in force⁴.
 - e. Alternatively, it may be appropriate to place the officer on Adjusted Duties.

⁴ This does not preclude the use of UPP at any other stage in the process –poor attendance or poor performance issues should always be dealt with promptly.

4. Adjusted Duties

Allocation of Adjusted Duties Officers to Roles

- 37. Triggers for officers to be placed on adjusted duties are as follows:
 - a. Officer fails to recover to full duties following a period of recuperation (see Section A for further guidance)
 - b. Failure to pass fitness test or Personal Safety Training brings to light an underlying medical condition that makes adjusted duties appropriate;
 - c. Medical review that comes about for some other reason.
- 38. It is for Chief Officers to define a process for allocating Adjusted Duties officers to suitable roles within the force. Placing an officer on adjusted duties represents an intention to retain an officer in the force in a substantive policing role that matches their individual capabilities, on the understanding that this may necessitate long term or permanent workplace adjustments. In doing so, forces should be guided by prevailing good practice, particularly around managing disability. This process must enable forces to balance their responsibilities under the Equalities Act with operational resilience requirements. Where forces can reasonably make adjustments, they must do so. This will require forces to be able to demonstrate a clear understanding of what capabilities are required in all roles in order for the force as a whole to fulfil its operational demands. Forces are also encouraged to use the Police Professional Framework and any local job description/person specification/capabilities assessment as a guide to the capabilities required for adequate performance in the role.
- 39. It is not proposed to take a prescriptive approach to how this should be done, although it is anticipated that the best approach will involve a force level process that is open, transparent and fair and which is based on the positive capabilities of individual officers rather than the things they are not able to do.
- 40. For an officer to be placed on adjusted duties, he/she must:
 - a. have returned to or be attending work on a regular basis;
 - b. be working the full number of hours for which he/she is paid (in either a full time or part time role).
- 41. It should be noted that the key considerations in decisions around the posting of officers on adjusted duties into appropriate roles are:
 - a. The workplace adjustments that could reasonably be accommodated (including adjustments to the range of duties) in order for the officer to be capable of performing the role in question. These could include, for example, adjustments to the officer's duties, hours of work, the provision of special IT equipment or IT, adjustments to the work environment etc.

- b. Whether it is reasonable for the force to make those adjustments to that role. This would include consideration of operational resilience issues alongside the capabilities of the individual such as: health and safety risk assessment, cost, impact of adjustments on colleagues and team/force performance, whether adjustments have been made for others etc.
- c. The context of the totality of the police officer workforce, the number of vacancies available and the needs of disabled officers and officers returning from maternity leave as well as any other statutory duties which may apply.
- d. A trial period (determined by the force) to assess whether the individual can fulfil the role with reasonable adjustments.
- 42. Following this, officers may, as a reasonable adjustment, be posted to a role which they are medically capable of performing, but for which they do not have all the necessary skills or experience. In these circumstances, a reasonable period of retraining will be required (generally up to 6 months but it is up to each force to determine what is reasonable in each case).
- 43. A fully deployable officer will generally demonstrate all the following core capabilities:
 - a. the ability to sit for reasonable periods, to write, read, use the telephone and to use (or learn to use) IT;
 - b. the ability to run, walk reasonable distances, and stand for reasonable periods;
 - c. the ability to make decisions and report situations to others;
 - d. the ability to evaluate information and to record details;
 - e. the ability to exercise reasonable physical force in restraint and retention in custody;
 - f. the ability to understand, retain and explain facts and procedures;
 - g. the ability to work the full range of shifts (earlies, lates and nights).
- 44. The kinds of capabilities needed for a role vary and not all duties will need to be carried out in exactly the same way on all occasions by officers in the same roles. Officers who cannot demonstrate all the capabilities listed above may still be matched to a substantive police role. For instance, the ability to exercise physical force in restraint and retention in custody will rarely be a requirement for a role at superintending ranks. Although in this case, a superintendent may be on adjusted duties in recognition of the fact that they are not fully deployable (allowing forces to monitor availability of fully deployable officers), it is unlikely that a pay deduction could be justified.

- 45. The final decision to allocate an officer to adjusted duties should take account of medical advice, and professional advice may be needed to:
 - a. evaluate the appropriateness of adjustments /whether adjustments will help the officer overcome barriers to working in a substantive police role;
 - b. identify the potential impact of any restriction or limitation on others (this could include colleagues, teams or the public);
 - c. conduct a Health & Safety assessment;
 - d. determine the impact of adjustments on the force's performance and workload;
 - e. assess the impact of the Equality Act 2010.
- 46. The officer should be fully involved in this process and will often be able to suggest ways in which barriers to working can be overcome given the fact that they are more likely to be familiar with their condition and the way in which it affects them individually.
- 47. If a difference of opinion arises between the member and the Force in relation to such medical advice to place a member on adjusted duties where the difference of opinion relates to whether or not the member is "fully deployable", the chief officer or delegated authority shall, within 28 days of the difference of opinion coming to light, arrange for the member to be examined by a different registered medical practitioner, appointed or approved by the chief officer. The second doctor's opinion will be final.
- 48. The officer may then be placed on adjusted duties and new or further reasonable adjustments put in place, including a move to a more appropriate role where one is available. Where there are no adjustments that would be effective in enabling the officer to overcome barriers to meeting the relevant provision, criteria or practice of the force, or where adjustments cannot reasonably be made, ill-health retirement or UPP may be appropriate.

Management of officers on adjusted duties

- 49. Having been placed on adjusted duties, adjustments should be monitored or altered as necessary to meet the needs of the officer and the force⁵. If the officer's condition suffers a significant deterioration during the course of the year, it may be appropriate to consider ill health retirement or UPP.
- 50. Officers will be assessed one year after being placed on adjusted duties, and on an annual basis thereafter, to determine:
 - a. whether he/she is able, after reasonable workplace adjustments have been made, to discharge a substantive police role for the full duration of the agreed hours for which he/she is paid; and

⁵ Some adjustments once in place may need time to become effective. Where specific adjustments are not achieving their aim or are no longer necessary, they may be justifiably removed or changed

- b. whether such deployment can be accommodated without unreasonable detriment to overall force resilience.
- 51. The assessment should constitute a formal management review, undertaken with the individual concerned, and may involve a referral to the force medical advisor(s).

Actions in advance of the 12 month review

- 52. After nine months on adjusted duties, the officer should be notified in writing that should she/he remain on adjusted duties⁶ following a 12 month management review, she/he may be subject to the loss of the deployability element of the X-factor payment (referred to as 'X-factor' through the rest of this document).
- 53. This constitutes a deduction of pay to the value of:
 - 8% of the pay to which the member is entitled as a constable.
 - a. For all other ranks:
 - 8% of the pay to which the member is entitled in his/her current rank, capped at 8% of the maximum of constables' pay.
- 54. The officer should also be informed of all possible outcomes of the review. The officer will then be invited to make written representations to the appropriate authority (delegated as necessary)⁷.

The 12 Month Review

- 55. Once the officer reaches 12 months on adjusted duties, a formal management review should be undertaken with the individual concerned, with the purpose of assessing whether there has been a change in the individual's medical circumstances, whether there need to be any changes made to the adjustments already put in place, and whether any such changes can reasonably be accommodated in that role. Such a review need not necessarily involve a referral to the force medical advisor(s). The outcome of that management review could be that:
 - a. the officer is considered for a return to full duties;
 - b. the officer is considered for ill-health retirement;
 - c. UPP may be considered if appropriate;
 - d. adjustments are no longer adequate, and further adjustments to the role are agreed to be reasonable and implemented;
 - e. some adjustments are no longer necessary and can be removed, and any necessary arrangements put in place to enable the officer to be more fully deployed;

_

⁶ i.e. continues to meet the criteria set out at paragraph 43.

⁷ the chief officer of police of the police force concerned may delegate this authority

- f. business circumstances have changed, and existing adjustments can no longer be accommodated as reasonable, in which case the force would invoke its procedures for allocating the officer to a more appropriate role;
- g. the officer remains in role with existing adjustments remaining in place.
- 56. Where the management review indicates it is appropriate, a further medical review may be initiated. It is advisable to obtain up to date medical advice before taking management action, but this will be a decision for forces to make on a case by case basis.
- 57. Where the officer remains on adjusted duties and the Selected Medical Practitioner (SMP) is not considering the possibility of permanent disablement or permanent incapacity as appropriate, a further outcome of the review would be a recommendation as to whether the X-factor component of pay should be removed or not.
- 58. If an officer has been referred to the Selected Medical Practitioner in relation to consideration of ill-health retirement⁸ prior to or during the first 12 month review process, decisions about pay deductions shall not be made until the outcome of that referral is known.

Pay implications

- 59. On receipt of this recommendation, the chief officer of police, or delegated authority, will decide, on a case-by-case basis, whether or not an officer should sustain such a deduction from pay. All cases should be considered individually, taking into account the relevant facts and circumstances of each. The relevant senior officer or police staff equivalent must consider each case on its merits, having due regard to equalities legislation and to the operational requirements of the force at that time.
- 60. When deciding who will be responsible for decisions about X-factor deductions, forces should bear in mind that an appeal may subsequently be made to the chief officer of police. Therefore, to maintain an element of independence in the appeals process, provision made by the force for an appeal to be made to someone other than the person who made the initial decision to deduct 'X-factor'
- 61. Officers must be notified in writing of the decision. One month's notice will be given of any deduction of the deployment element of X-factor from pay.
- 62. X-factor as a proportion of pay is as defined at paragraph 53 and in Annex EE of the determinations under Police Regulations 2003. For clarity, calculation of X-factor deductions should not include any additional allowances or other payments (for example: London weighting, CRTP, overtime or acting up allowance).
- 63. X-factor shall be calculated daily, for each day which the member has spent on adjusted duties. A day's pay for the purposes of this determination shall be

⁸ The period from the date of written referral until the date the chief officer of police makes the decision to retain or retire the officer.

- calculated according to the determination at Annex M made under Regulation 30 (dividing by 7 the weekly rate).
- 64. For part time members, X-factor should be calculated on a pro-rata basis, taking into account the number of hours worked.
- 65. Any deduction shall be calculated according to the officer's rate of pay on the day immediately after one months' notice has elapsed and shall be deducted in arrears on each pay day for each day of the previous pay period which the member has spent on adjusted duties.
- 66. Removing X-factor should be viewed as a means of encouraging managers to focus on returning officers to full duties wherever possible; limiting the use of adjusted duties whilst still retaining valued officers in police roles in a way that is fair to police staff and to fully deployable officers.
- 67. Removal of X-factor would not preclude the use of formal actions or sanctions under the Police (Performance) Regulations if it is appropriate to initiate these later on.

Fairness and justification of X-factor retention

- 68. Forces are advised to set down in writing and regularly review guidelines to promote fairness and consistency in the decision making process (which should not rule out the possibility of exceptions). This should include clear justification in relation to the potential impact on force resilience. To do this, forces will need to regularly review their workforce against the operational requirement and changing local and national priorities.
- 69. The chief officer may decide that the deployment component of the X-factor may be retained by the officer in the following circumstances:
 - a. The range of roles to which the force is able to deploy the officer is not significantly reduced.
 - b. The avoidance of manifest unfairness e.g. where fully fit officers are performing the same range of duties within a role as an officer on adjusted duties.
 - c. An officer is on adjusted duties solely as the result of an injury sustained or contracted in the course of having put themselves in harm's way in the execution of their duties (see **Annex A** for examples).
 - d. Some other exceptional reason (some examples of what would not generally be considered exceptional are provided in **Annex A** but the decision about what is classed as an exceptional reason should be made locally).

Appeals

- 70. The officer has the right to appeal the decision reduce their pay to the chief officer of police. With reference to paragraph 60, this should always be a different person from the person who made the decision that a pay deduction was appropriate.
- 71. Allowable grounds for appeal are:

- a. abuse of process;
- b. perverse decision.
- 72. Should she/he submit an appeal that is upheld, pay will be reinstated, including any back pay as applicable.

Review of officers on adjusted duties after the first year

- 73. Subsequently, line manager reviews of adjusted duties officers should take place on at least an annual basis to check that arrangements are still working for both the individual and the force and that any pay adjustment is still appropriate. These reviews should take the same format as the 12 month review.
- 74. A review can be initiated at the request of either the officer or local managers at any time if there is any significant change in circumstances (i.e. a change in the officer's condition for better or worse, a change in the level of force resilience etc). If the conclusion of the review is that an officer's condition has improved to the point where adjustments are no longer necessary, they should be taken off adjusted duties and pay reinstated with effect from the date of the conclusion of the review (including consideration of any new medical advice).
- 75. For clarity, it should be noted that UPP processes should be treated as separate from the adjusted duties process, but removal of x-factor would not preclude the use of UPP sanctions if it is appropriate to initiate these later on⁹.
- 76. In relation to any referrals made to the Selected Medical Practitioner in relation to consideration of ill-health retirement¹⁰ after the implementation of any pay deduction, any further decision about X-factor deduction shall be stayed until the day immediately after the date when a decision is made by the chief officer of police to retain or retire the officer.

⁹ Care should be taken to ensure that the performance of disabled officers is appropriately measured – for example, it may be a reasonable adjustment in some cases to adjust the expected level of output compared to other officers performing the same role in order to remove a disadvantage to the officer.

¹⁰ The period from the date of written referral until the date the chief officer of police makes the decision to retain or retire the officer.

Arrangements from 1 May 2015 in relation to officers currently categorised as being on "restricted duties"

- 77. It is recommended that forces begin an immediate assessment of all officers currently on 'restricted duties' against the new definitions of 'limited duties'. This should be carried out in the context of overall force resilience and the number of officers required to be flexibly deployable to meet demand and provide an effective service. This will include having an understanding of the range of capability and deployability requirements needed for each role in order to achieve resilience.
- 78. Officers currently on 'restricted duties' according to the existing definition should not automatically be transferred to the new category of adjusted duties. Any decision to place an officer on adjusted duties needs to be taken in accordance with the process above. This will be especially relevant to those forces that currently define 'restricted duties' more broadly – for example, some forces may include in this definition officers who are able to undertake a more limited range of duties than usual on a temporary basis or who are undergoing a phased return to work (the latter would constitute recuperative duties under the new definitions).
- 79. For the avoidance of doubt, it is likely that some officers with disabilities (as defined under the Equality Act 2010) will be fully deployable and will not be suitable for Adjusted Duties.
- 80. The decision to place an officer on adjusted duties represents an intention to retain an officer in the force in a substantive policing role that matches their individual capabilities, on the understanding that this may necessitate long term or permanent workplace adjustments. Therefore, officers currently on 'restricted duties' who have been referred to the Selected Medical Practitioner¹¹ for consideration of the possibility of permanent disablement, or permanent medical unfitness (as defined under the Police Pensions Regulations) should not automatically be re-categorised as being on adjusted duties until the outcome of any such assessment is known.
- 81. Any performance or attendance issues identified at this stage that fall within the scope of UPP should be dealt with separately, according to the usual procedures. If an officer currently on restricted or recuperative duties is already subject to UPP procedures, this should be progressed as usual. Forces are reminded that in disability cases the UPP process should explore whether adjustments could support the officer back to an acceptable level of performance in the role or another role as appropriate. Ill health retirement should also be considered if relevant.
- 82. Officers who are likely to fall under the new category of 'adjusted duties' should be assessed against current medical/capability reports. In most cases, a nurse-led paper based review is likely to be the most proportionate approach, with new medical reviews being conducted only in cases where there is a clear justification

¹¹ The period from the date of written referral until the date the chief officer of police makes the decision to retain or retire the officer.

- for doing so. Forces are expected to complete such a review within 9 months of this guidance coming into effect.
- 83. If a final decision is made to place an officer on 'adjusted duties', their situation should be reviewed after 12 months according to the process set out above.

5. Re-Employment

Police Staff Roles

84. Police officers who leave the service or who are considering leaving the service should be given the opportunity to apply for a police staff job if one is available. Forces will need to be mindful of their prior statutory obligations to police staff who are at risk of redundancy, and those requiring redeployment on disability grounds.

Re-joiners

85. In keeping with Regulation 10B of the Police Regulations 2003, officers may re-join service within 5 years at the same rank and pay point. This may be longer, at the Chief Constable's discretion.

<u>Annex A</u>: Further guidance on the exercise of discretion in relation to pay deductions associated with adjusted duties

Examples where a chief officer may decide to exercise their discretion <u>not</u> to deduct pay could include:

- an officer injured whilst pursuing or arresting a suspect or assaulted by a person in his or her custody;
- an officer injured whilst attempting to effect a rescue at a fire or serious accident/incident;
- an officer suffering medically diagnosed post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of the performance of police duty
- an officer suffering illness as a result of contact with a contaminated hypodermic needle during a search of a person or premises;
- an officer suffering terminal illness;

The following are examples, which would not normally attract favourable discretion:

- an officer is working hard within their range of limited capabilities;
- welfare issues:
- disability
- there is evidence of default or neglect on the officer's part;
- an officer's actions may be delaying the process of recovery;
- the officer is unreasonably failing to cooperate with a rehabilitation programme or comply with requests to attend medical examinations or supply medical information;
- an officer has multiple medical conditions, not all of which arise from an injury sustained through putting themselves in harm's way in the execution of duty and where that injury is not the one which necessitates workplace adjustments.
- an officer suffering a sporting injury (whether or not playing for a police team);
- an officer injured in an accident on police premises, for example, by tripping or lifting or carrying of equipment, or whilst undergoing classroom-based training;
- an officer injured off duty whilst travelling to or from work;
- chronic illness unrelated to any particular source or cause arising from the specific duties relating to the office of constable;
- illness incapacitating an officer from the ordinary duties of a police constable but which would not be incapacitating for other occupations;
- stress related illness (including psychiatric illness) resulting from working conditions generally.